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PREFACE

Greek Manuscripts at Princeton, Sixth to Nineteenth
Century: A Descriptive Catalogue is a comprehen-
sive descriptive guide to the Byzantine and post-Byz-
antine Greek manuscripts, miniatures, and bindings
in the Manuscripts Division of Princeton University
Library’s Department of Rare Books and Special Col-
lections; the Scheide Library, Princeton, which is
housed in the Princeton University Library; the
Princeton University Art Museum; and Princeton
Theological Seminary. The catalogue is being pub-
lished in celebration of the thirtieth anniversary of
Princeton University’s Program in Hellenic Studies,
which was founded in 1979 with the generous sup-
port of Stanley J. Seeger Jr., Princeton University
Class of 1952.

In the early 1990s, Dimitri Gondicas, executive di-
rector of the Program in Hellenic Studies, and Don
C. Skemer, curator of manuscripts at the Princeton
University Library, began planning a project to com-
pile and publish a catalogue of Greek manuscripts
that would build on the work of two exhibitions at
Princeton and their respective catalogues: Illumi-
nated Greek Manuscripts from American Collec-
tions: An Exhibition in Honor of Kurt Weitzmann
(1973) and Byzantium at Princeton (1986). As a com-
prehensive catalogue, Greek Manuscripts at Prince-
ton covers a larger number of items than these two
catalogues or any other published descriptions, such
as those in Seymour De Ricci and W. J. Wilson, Cen-
sus of Medieval and Renaissance Manuscripts in the
United States and Canada (1935-40), and in the
Supplement compiled by C. U. Faye and W. H. Bond
(1962).

The principal contributors to the catalogue are
Sofia Kotzabassi (Department of Medieval and Mod-
ern Greek Philology, Aristotle University of Thessa-
lonike) for descriptions of text, annotations, script,
physical structure, and provenance; and Nancy P.
Sevéenko (independent scholar) for descriptions of
miniatures and decoration, other art-historical analy-
sis, and, together with Sofia Kotzabassi, transcrip-
tions of the lectionary calendars of feasts. Don C.
Skemer, director of the project, prepared the descrip-
tions of the bindings, some provenance notes, and ad-
ditional matter.

The cataloguing format was developed to be fully
consistent with recent American practice, as estab-
lished principally by the Huntington Library and
Yale catalogues of medieval manuscripts and fol-
lowed by Harvard, Princeton (in its forthcoming cat-

alogue of medieval and Renaissance manuscripts),
and other American libraries and museums. Greek
Manuscripts at Princeton also benefited from the
methodology and learning of other Byzantine manu-
script catalogues published in recent decades, espe-
cially those by Herbert Hunger (Osterreichische Na-
tionalbibliothek, Vienna), Irmgard Hutter (Oxford
University libraries), and Anna Marava-Chatzinico-
laou and Christina Toufexi-Paschou (National Li-
brary of Greece, Athens).

The manuscripts and miniatures described in this
catalogue came from many sources. The principal
collector was Robert Garrett (1875-1961), Princeton
University Class of 1897. While still a Princeton un-
dergraduate, he was the hero of the first modern
Olympics in Athens in 1896, where he won four me-
dals, including gold medals in the discus throw and
shot put. After graduating, Garrett returned home to
Baltimore, where he entered the family’s investment
banking firm and embarked on a life of collecting
manuscripts illustrating five millennia of recorded
history, including examples in nearly every known
script and language, inspired in part by the full-color
facsimiles in his own copy of Joseph Balthazar Sil-
vestre’s Universal Palaeography (London, 1850).

Garrett was a discerning collector, ever willing to
be guided by the academic interests of the Princeton
faculty. From the 1890s through the 1940s, and espe-
cially during the 1920s, he acquired more than ten
thousand manuscripts and antiquities, including
twenty Byzantine and post-Byzantine manuscripts.
Garrett placed two Greek manuscripts (Garrett MS. 9
and Princeton Greek MS. 2) on deposit in the Prince-
ton University Library in 1901 and 1906, respec-
tively, and purchased another one (Garrett MS. 15) at
a Sotheby, Wilkinson and Hodge auction in London
that began on 11 December 1903. Between 1924 and
1930, Garrett acquired eight additional Byzantine
manuscripts from Thomas Whittemore (1871-1950),
an art historian and archaeologist best known for his
work on the mosaics of the church of Hagia Sophia
in Istanbul during the 1930s. Whittemore was the
founder and director of the Boston-based Byzantine
Institute of America, which merged with Dumbarton
Oaks in 1970, and of the Paris-based Bibliotheque
Byzantine (Fonds Thomas Whittemore-Institut By-
zantin). He acquired these and other Byzantine man-
uscripts—most of them from the Skete of St. An-
drew of the Russians on Mount Athos—and brought
them to the United States, where he sold them to
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private collectors and libraries. Garrett received five
manuscripts (Garrett MSS. 1, 2, 5, 6, and 13) from
Whittemore in April 1924 and paid for them in
1924-25. In a letter to Whittemore, dated 4 April
1924 (carbon copy in the Robert Garrett Papers, box
1, Manuscripts Division, Department of Rare Books
and Special Collections, Princeton University Li-
brary), Garrett indicates that on 3 April 1924 he had
five Greek manuscripts in his possession at the
Shoreham Hotel in Washington, D.C., and that he
had previously confirmed this in a note handed to
Whittemore. Garrett also states that he would pay
for these five manuscripts in installments in 1924-
25. Three more manuscripts (Garrett MSS. 3, 4, and
8) were purchased from Whittemore in April 1930.

Garrett also purchased manuscripts from antiquar-
ian booksellers such as Joseph Baer (Frankfurt am
Main), Karl W. Hiersemann (Leipzig), and Wilfred M.
Voynich (New York). Auctions and private treaties
seem to have played a relatively minor role in Gar-
rett’s acquisition of Byzantine manuscripts, which
were shelved with his fine collection of Western me-
dieval manuscripts. He also acquired some 8,500 Is-
lamic manuscripts, as well as significant holdings of
Armenian, Ethiopic, Indic, Mesoamerican, and other
manuscripts, and he underwrote the cost of purchas-
ing most of the 1,300 papyri, mostly Greek, in the
collection of Princeton University Library’s Depart-
ment of Rare Books and Special Collections (see Ap-
pendix). Garrett gradually deposited his collection in
the Princeton University Library’s Treasure Room,
the predecessor of the Department of Rare Books and
Special Collections, and then donated it to the Uni-
versity in 1942.1

Another important assemblage of Byzantine manu-
scripts at Princeton is in the Scheide Library, a pri-
vate collection focusing on the Bible, the history of
the book, early printing, and other subjects of inter-
est to three generations of the Scheide family of Ti-
tusville, Pennsylvania, and Princeton, New Jersey:
William T. Scheide (1847-1907); his son John Hins-
dale Scheide (1875-1942), Princeton University Class
of 1896; and William H. Scheide, Princeton Univer-
sity Class of 1936. William H. Scheide moved the li-
brary from Titusville to Princeton University after
the death of his mother in 1959. The library was at
first housed in temporary quarters in Firestone Li-
brary; in 1965 it was moved to a newly constructed
addition to Firestone, similar in appearance to the Ti-
tusville library, which is adjacent to the Department
of Rare Books and Special Collections. The Scheide
Library acquired most of its manuscripts through the
antiquarian book trade and auctions. The Byzantine
holdings were acquired by John Hinsdale Scheide and
William H. Scheide.?

Five of the manuscripts catalogued here (Garrett

MS. 5, Garrett MS. 6, Garrett MS. 14, Garrett MS. 16,
and Princeton MS. 81) were formerly in the library of
Kosinitza monastery, the monastery of the Theoto-
kos Eikosiphoinisses in the village of Kormista, Pre-
fecture of Serres, near Drama in northern Greece. All
of the monastery’s manuscripts were removed from
its library and taken to Sofia by the Bulgarian author-
ities in March 1917; they are now scattered in a num-
ber of collections in Europe and the United States.
(Garrett MS. 6 left the monastery earlier, probably
between 1862 and 1887.) The collections with the
largest number of former Kosinitza manuscripts are
the Ivan Dujcev Centre for Slavo-Byzantine Studies
in Sofia (248 manuscripts) and the National Library
in Prague (ca. 12 manuscripts). Others are now in
Amsterdam, Bibliotheek van de Universiteit; Athens,
National Library of Greece; Bratislava, University Li-
brary; Brussels, Bibliothéque Royale de Belgique;
Cambridge (U.K.), University Library; Chicago, Luth-
eran School of Theology Library; Durham (North
Carolina), Duke University Library; New York, Mor-
gan Library and Museum; Paris, Bibliotheque Na-
tionale de France; Prague, National Museum; Upp-
sala, Universitetsbibliotek; and Vienna, Osterreich-
ische Nationalbibliothek.3

Since the 1990s, the Princeton University Library
and the Program in Hellenic Studies, with generous
financial support from the Stanley J. Seeger Hellenic
Fund, have worked in close collaboration to expand
the library’s holdings of Byzantine and post-Byzan-
tine Greek manuscripts. The recent acquisitions cat-
alogued in this volume include two 13th-century
Byzantine manuscripts (Princeton MSS. 173 and
180), a zodologion of the late 16th to early 17th cen-
tury (Princeton MS. 176), a Venetian Renaissance
Sammelband with grammatical texts (Princeton MS.
184), and ten manuscripts in the Princeton Greek
Manuscripts series (MSS. 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 14, 15,
16, and 17). This latter group includes a proskynetar-
ion of the Holy Land (Princeton Greek MS. 12) and
an 18th-century illustrated chronicle roll (Princeton
Greek MS. 16). Additional funding for these recent
acquisitions has been provided by the Theodore F.
Sanxay Fund, the University Librarian’s Discretion-
ary Fund, the Friends of the Princeton University Li-
brary, the Shelby Cullom Davis Center for Historical
Studies, the Presidential Fund, the Marquand Fund
for Art and Archaeology, and other supporters of the
Program in Hellenic Studies and Princeton Univer-
sity Library. Other catalogued manuscripts and
miniatures in the library, the Princeton University
Art Museum, and Princeton Theological Seminary
are from a variety of individual gifts or purchases.

This catalogue includes manuscripts acquired by
the Princeton University Library through the year
2003. In subsequent years, the library, with the on-



Copyrighted Material

Preface

Xix

going assistance of the Program in Hellenic Studies,
supported by the Stanley J. Seeger Hellenic Fund, has
continued to add to its holdings of Byzantine and
post-Byzantine manuscripts. The most recent addi-
tions to the collection, which are not catalogued
here, include a 16th-century humanistic miscellany
with texts by Classical authors and by the 12th-cen-
tury poet Joannes Tzetzes, several nomokanon man-
uscripts of the 16th—early 19th centuries, two 17th-
century proskynetaria, orthodox texts, chant books,
and other collections of liturgical music.

Both the compilation and the publication of this
catalogue have been collaborative efforts in every
sense. It was possible to expand the scope of the cat-
alogue beyond the Department of Rare Books and
Special Collections because of the cooperation of
William H. Scheide, Princeton University Class of
1936; Paul Needham, the Scheide librarian; Allen
Rosenbaum, former director of the Princeton Univer-
sity Art Museum; and Stephen D. Crocco, director of
the Speer Library of Princeton Theological Seminary.
Colum Hourihane, director of the Index of Christian
Art, offered the valuable professional services of its
photographer, John Blazejewski, who was responsible
for all of the photography in this volume. Ted Stanley
of the Princeton University Library’s Preservation
Office did ultraviolet photography and wood analy-
sis. Stanley J. Seeger Visiting Research Fellowships
helped support the work of Sofia Kotzabassi and
Nancy Sevéenko in Princeton.

This catalogue was prepared and produced over the
course of more than ten years by people often work-
ing at considerable geographical distance from one
another. The resulting catalogue is a complex array
of textual and physical descriptions, filled with quo-
tations and citations in Greek and other languages,
and accompanied by plates with hundreds of images
of manuscripts, which required new photography and
exacting standards of color reproduction. All of this

1. On Garrett as a collector, see R. Garrett, “Recollections of
a Collector,” Princeton University Library Chronicle 10.3
(1949), pp. 103-116; D. C. Skemer, “The Garrett Collection Re-
visited,” Princeton University Library Chronicle 56.3 (1995),
pp. 421-428; and D. C. Skemer, “From Byzantium to Prince-
ton: A Century of Collecting Greek Manuscripts,” in Byzan-
tine Art: Recent Studies. Essays in Honor of Lois Drewer, ed.
C. Hourihane (Tempe, Ariz., 2009), pp. 185-191.

2. On the Scheides and the growth of their library, see J. P.
Boyd, The Scheide Library: A Summary View of Its History
and Its Outstanding Books, together with an Account of Its
Two Founders, William Taylor Scheide and John Hinsdale
Scheide (n.p. [Princeton], 1947), pp. 16-20; W. H. Scheide,
“Love for the Printed Word as Expressed in the Scheide Li-
brary,” Papers of the Bibliographic Society of America 51

posed a significant editorial challenge, which was
fortunately met by Christopher Moss, publications
editor for Princeton University’s Department of Art
and Archaeology. Publication of the catalogue would
have been impossible in its present form without his
extraordinary professional skills and scholarly back-
ground. He has skillfully guided the catalogue through
all stages of editing, illustration, design, indexing,
and production. His meticulous editorial eye, patient
checking of text and images, adept work with free-
lancers and printers, and unswerving commitment to
quality have immeasurably improved the catalogue
and prevented many errors of commission and omis-
sion. The authors are especially grateful to him for
his persistent good cheer, which transformed every
editorial query into a pleasant scholarly exchange
and every problem into a workable solution, adding
value to the catalogue at every point.

Financial support for the production of this cata-
logue was provided by many units of Princeton Uni-
versity: the Program in Hellenic Studies, with the
support of the Stanley J. Seeger Hellenic Fund; the
Publications Fund, Department of Art and Archaeol-
ogy, chaired successively by Patricia Fortini Brown
and Hal Foster; the Council of the Humanities, Carol
Rigolot, executive director; the David A. Gardner ’69
Magic Project; the Shelby Cullom Davis Center for
Historical Studies; the Department of History; the
Mildred Clarke Pressinger von Kienbusch Memorial
Fund, Princeton University Art Museum; the David
Magie ‘97 Publication Fund, Department of Classics;
the Department of Rare Books and Special Collec-
tions, Princeton University Library; and the Group
for the Study of Late Antiquity. Our thanks go to all
of them for recognizing the importance of this proj-
ect and for helping bring it to fruition.

Dimitri Gondicas
Don C. Skemer

(1957), pp. 214-226; and For William H. Scheide: Fifty Years of
Collecting (n.p. [Princeton], 2004).

3. For a general overview of the Kosinitza monastery library
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viig tii¢ Kooivitoag (1j Eikooigoiviooag) 100 Iayyaiov (Drama,
1990), and G. Papazoglou, H BiAt001kn kai ta yeipdypopa tig
uoviig to0 Twuiov Ipodpouov Xeppaov (Komotini, 1993). Addi-
tional manuscripts formerly in the monastery have recently
been identified in collections in Prague (J.-M. Olivier and M.-A.
Monégier Du Sorbier, Manuscrits grecs récemment découverts
en République Tcheque [Paris, 2006], pp. 57-107, 134-175, pls.
VIII, X—XV, XXIII—XXVII) and Vienna (E. Mineva, “Cod. Vindo-
bonensis Suppl. Gr. 165, o «ayvovuevog» k®dikag 18 tng Koot-
vutoog,” EAAnvikd 49 [1999], pp. 143-147).



